

## Corn (Zea Mays) as a nutrient source and diet : A Review

### Abstract:-

Maize is also known as corn; it is a cereal. It is a member of Poaceae family which is a grass family. Maize originated 55 to 70 year ago in central America. By seeing phylogenetic tree of grass species of related to maize, we can conclude that there is no direct ancestor of maize. The closest ancestor of maize are teosintes. Maize contains many phytochemical-like phytosterols, carotenoids and many other phenolic compounds. Maize also helps while reliving anti-HIV activity; this takes place due to the prescence of Galanthus Nivalis Agglutinin (GNA) lectin. Maize is the great source of essential fatty assets. The maize cob and the root leaves of it are used to treat problem re;ated to bladder, Nausea, vomiting. The endosperm of maize contains an alcohol solution prolamine called Zein, Which has a great roll in pharmaceutical industry. Maize also contains resistant starch which reduces cancer-cecal, atherosclerosis and obesity related issues .

**Keywords:** Maize; phylogenetic; prolamine; phytochemicals; resistant starch; potential.

**Comment [g1]:** Correct this info.  
"originated 55–70 million years ago"

**Comment [g2]:** Delete

**Comment [g3]:** Personal nouns are not allowed to use.

**Comment [g4]:** Correct your spelling to  
"presence"

**Comment [g5]:** Correct your spelling

**Comment [g6]:** Correct your spelling

**Comment [g7]:** Remove the space

**Comment [g8]:** Reset the spaces

### 1. Introduction:-

Maize is a cereal grain which belongs to family poaceae. The word zia is a Greek word which mean surviving life. And the word mays is taken from taino language which means giving life to someone.. The synonyms is silk maize, makka, barajobar,etc for maize. In the entire universe, it is considered as the

**Comment [g9]:** Poaceae.

**Comment [g10]:** Tiano

**Comment [g11]:** delete

**Comment [g12]:** ?

most principal food. After considering wheat as well as rice, it is considered as the third foremost crop of the world. It is referred as the queen of the cereals, since it has a highest production upto 967 million metric tons. USA is the highest producer of maize and contributes 35 percent of the total maize production in the world. Uttar Pradesh, Bihar, West Bengal, Haryana, Jammu and Kashmir, Andhra Pradesh, Himanchal Pradesh, Rajasthan, Karnataka, these together account for about 95 percent of nations world production in India. Cornmeal, grits, starch, flour, tortillas, snacks and breakfast cereals are the forms of the animal feed which is also obtained from maize. Chapatis are also made out of maize in many northern state of India like Punjab and Chandigarh. Maize is majorly studied nowadays because of its nutraceuticals, the phytochemicals compounds and its health properties. Because of its nutritional and health promoting factors, maize is widely used.

Comment [g13]: space

Comment [g14]: space

Comment [g15]: Himachal

## 2. Taxonomy of maize

Kingdom: Plantae

Subkingdom: Tracheobionta

Superdivision: Spermatophyta

Division: Magnoliophyta

Class: Liliopsida

Subclass: Commelinidae

Order: Cyperales

Family: Poaceae

Subfamily: Panicoideae

Tribe: Andropogoneae

Genus: Zea

Species: Zea mays

It is an ancestor of corn. The wild relatives of maize is teosintes. Its genus contains 4 species, out of those 4, Zea mays L. is the most economically essential. Its wild species is found in Mexico and Central America. The chromosomes number of Zea mays is  $2n=20$ . 7 genera are occupied under the tribe Andropogoneae which comprises old and new world groups, these are-, Sclerachne ( $2n = 20$ ), Trilobachne ( $2n = 20$ ), and Polytoca ( $2n = 20$ ), Zea and

Comment [g16]: is

Comment [g17]: space

Comment [g18]: Central America

Comment [g19]: ?

Comment [g20]: space

Tripsacum, Coix (2n = 10/20), Chionachne (2n = 20), Sclerachne (2n = 20), Trilobachne (2n = 20)

### 3.Nutritional Utility of Maize-

Themaize contains a kernel which is quite wholesome and edible and has a large amount of nutritive content in it. The kernel contains 71.88grams of carbohydrate, 8.84 grams of protein, 4.57 gram of fat, 2.15 gram of fibre, 2.33 gram of ash, 10.23 grams of moisture, 348 grams of phosphorus, 15.9g of Sulfur, 114mg of Riboflavin, 1.78mg of Amino acids, 1.5g of minerals, 10mg of calcium, 2.3mg of iron, 286mg of Pottassium, 139mg of magnesium, 0.14mg of copper. Since human diet compromises less of potassium, so maize has high quantity of potassium in it. Coffee beans are also substituted by roasted maize kernels. The oil obtained from maize germ is used in cooking food, salads, this oil is obtained with the help of milling process. This oil consist of upto 15 percent of saturated fatty acids, 31 percent monounsaturated fatty acids-MUFA and 56 percent polyunsaturated fatty acids. The refined form of thye oil contains linoleic acid 56-60 prcent, oelic acid-PFA 26-32 percent, palmitic acid 11-13 percent, stearic acid 2to 3 prcent and linolenic acid 1 percent. The richest source of tocopherols is the maize oil. The silk maize contains the most essential elements required in our diet which are-, fixed oils, resins, sugar, fibres and salts, maizenic acid, mucilage

Comment [g21]: space

Comment [g22]: grams

Comment [g23]: correct

Comment [g24]: ?

Comment [g25]: percent

Comment [g26]: space and spelling

### 4.Phytochemical Importance of Maize-

Phytochemicals value of maize is that these are the chemicals which are biologically active compounds, these are present in essence and congenitally present in all the plants and thus helps in benefiting humans, Phytochemicals help in degrading the danger of chronic ailment like the diseases related to heart. Maize also contains phenolic acid, carotenoids, phenolic acid, phytosterols, anthocyanins, Sitosterol, Stigmasterol, Campesterol, ferulic acid, xanthophylls, zeaxanthin.

Comment [g27]: correct

Comment [g28]: correct

Comment [g29]: add "the"

Comment [g30]: correct

#### 4.1 Carotenoids-

Carotenoids are discribed as a menage of red, orange and yellow pigments. Yellow maize contains the largest amount of carotenoid pigment, especially in floury endosperm. The carotenoids pigments are differentiated into 2 classes- Carotenes and Xanthophylls. Carotenes are considered as the hydrocarbons

Comment [g31]: correct

Comment [g32]: add space

which is unbridled of oxygen and Xanthophyll is the pigment which encompasses oxygen.

Comment [g33]: add spaces

## **4.2 Phenolic Compounds-**

The phenolic compounds are referred as the phytochemicals present in the plant kingdom which are referred as tannins, flavonoids, stilbenes, coumarins. The part of bran of maize contains all three phenolic compounds. The most important and the major phenolic compounds are Ferulic acid (FA) or 4 hydroxy-3-methoxycinnamic acid and anthocyanins. The refined condition of corn bran contains the highest ferulic acid after which wheat and barley contains its maximum amounts.

Comment [g34]: replace by "referred to"

Comment [g35]: correct

Comment [g36]: correct

Comment [g37]: correct

Comment [g38]: correct

Anthocyanins are also a group of phenolic compound which is present as flavonoids, these are the water soluble plant pigment and are these are considered as the widest reaching group of plant pigment. These have red to purple color. The quantity of anthocyanin in maize is second highest, and the most important and efficient anthocyanin component found in maize is cyanidin-3-(3", 6" dimalonylglucoside), peonidin-3-glucoside, pelargonidin-3-(6" malonylglucoside), and cyanidin-3-glucoside, cyanidin-3-(3", 6"-malonylglucoside), and cyanidin-3-glucoside.

Comment [g39]: add a hyphen

Comment [g40]: space

## **4.3 Phytosterols-**

These are further considered as the Plant Sterols which is a very indispensable component of the cell wall and their membrane of plants. There are more than 250 phytosterols and those are differentiated into 3 classes upon the basis of their number of methyl group C-4 position holds simple sterols or 4-Desmethylsterol, 4-Monomethylsterol and 4, 4-Dimethylsterols. The highest amount of phytosterols is present in maize oil. Sitosterol, stigmasterol and campesterol are the most commonly consumed phytosterols. The quantity of phytosterols vary in amount in the kernel of maize such as pericarp, endosperm and germ.

Comment [g41]: add the space

Comment [g42]: correct

Comment [g43]: correct

## **5. Food Processing Techniques for Maize-**

### **1. Dry Milling-**

In this process the grinding of whole grain is done to produce flour, this is the simplest method which is used worldwide and is consumed shortly after processing. Crushed germ is also present in the flour. Rancid odour and flavour of flour is due to the oil which is formed from the broken germ cell. For the cornflakes and cereals manufacturing, which are widely consumed in breakfast, large are used. In order to recover regarding the valuable if dry milling germ is pressed. Grits (small as well as large) are consumed in it.

Comment [g44]: are

## 2. Wet milling-

This process is used in developed countries like USA, Ethanol and High fructose corn syrup are obtained using this process of wet milling.

Comment [g45]: add " the "

Comment [g46]: add a space

Comment [g47]: remove the space

## 3. Alkali Processing-

In Alkali processing, maize is prepared by cooking it with the help of lemon and water at approximately 89 degree celsius for 49 minutes and then it is stirred for 15 hours before washing it with pure water to remove the residual alkali and the other waste items present in maize.

Comment [g48]: correct

Comment [g49]: correct

Comment [g50]: remove the space

## 6. Products of maize-

### 1. Degerminated flour-

It largely consists of the Endosperm and has a large amount of vitamin B. For the operation of barley malt and thus helps in the production of beer. It is also used to make chapatti preferably called 'makke di roti' and bread. The flour is served with a green leafy vegetable mustard leaves.

Comment [g51]: add "s"

Comment [g52]: remove the space

Comment [g53]: remove

### 2. Corn germ oil-

This is procured by solvent extraction. A huge amount of linolenic fatty acid and the fat content is 3.6 percent is found in maize oil. By refining the oil it can be served as a high quality vegetable oil.

Comment [g54]: remove a space

Comment [g55]: remove the space

### 3. Popcorn-

This is the most famous food obtained from maize. For making this corneous endosperm is used. It has high popping expansion and a good flavour. Thus starch cookery is done for it. When the kernels of popcorns gets hot, the water vapour expands and thus the pressure increases leading to the popping of kernels. This is used as a supplementary diet for malnourished children.

Comment [g56]: get

Comment [g57]: correct

### 4. Corn Starch-

This is obtained from the operation of wet milling of maize in which the germ and the hull of maize are detach and the corn ground and united with water. Then it is passed through sieves in order to remove the semi liquid material. The protein gets suspended and the starch gets settles which is washed , dried, powdered. It is inexpensive and is superior to potato starch.

Comment [g58]: change the verb form

Comment [g59]: remove a space

Comment [g60]: remove a space

### 5. Cornflakes-

In this, the whole grain is compressed in the huge rollers-metal rollers in order to remove the bran from the outer layer, now this material obtained is mixed with salt, sugar or any other seasoning and water in a large rotating pressure cooker. This cooked grain is taken to conveyor belt, and then passed through drying oven ,this results in soft and solid mass . Then these cooked grains are allowed to cool, and tempering is done. Then these palliate grains are taken to huge metal rollers under large amount of pressure and then are taken to oven where a shock wave of balmy and hot air is given in order to remove remaining moisture and to toast the flavour.

### 7. Health Benefits of Maize

B complex is contained by maize which is very well for skin, heart, brain and and hair. It is also good for appropriate digestion. Maize also removes the manifatation of rheumatism because they ameliorate joint motility. They also improve the functioning of thyroid gland and immune system because they contain vitamin A, vitamin C, and vitamin K along with selenium and beta carotene. Maize contains potassium which has diuretic properties. Maize is also used to treat kidney stones in many countries. It is also considered useful to treat urinary tract infection, kidney stones, fluid retention, and jaundice. Maize

Comment [g61]: remove

Comment [g62]: space & correct

Comment [g63]: remove

Comment [g64]: remove a space

also improves blood pressure levels and it supports liver functioning and produces bile. To improve wounds, swellings and ulcers, it is also used. Maize silk is used for the problems of bladder, nausea and vomiting and also for stomach problems.

Maize oil has fatty acids like linoleic acid which help in maintaining blood pressure and also regulates the blood sugar level. This also helps in regulating cardiovascular maladies. In order to complete the requirement of essential fatty acid, a tablespoon of maize oil is fed. Maize contains Vitamin E which prevents the dissemination of oxidative stresses in the biological membrane.

Maize contains anti HIV property because of the appearance of GNA lectin in it. Carbohydrates can be bound to lectin as carbohydrates receptors are present on the cell membranes. The activity of virus is lectin binds to the sugar. Maize endosperm contains an alcohol soluble prolamine called the Zein, which is biodegradable, non toxic and also has film establishing attributes. Since it has some nutraceutical properties and pharmaceutical, so it also develops nanocomposite antimicrobial agents.

Comment [g65]: add a hyphen

Comment [g66]: can

Comment [g67]: add "s"

Comment [g68]: correct

Maize contains resistant starch also known as huge amylose maize, which has a large amount of health benefiting effects. Maize encompasses in total of 33.4mg per 100 grams of resistant starch. Maize helps in lowering the cholesterol and thus increasing the fecal excretion. It also minimizes the symptoms of diarrhea and also minimizes the danger of cancer-cecal. Maize also lowers the danger of diabetes antherosclerosis and obesity.

Comment [g69]: correct

Resistant starch acts as a dietary fibre which helps in weight control. It dilutes energy density of the diet and also modulates certain gene expressions.

Comment [g70]: correct your spelling

## **8. Conclusion-**

Maize contains various important nutrients and phytochemicals due to which it is considered as the major healthy food. It has major health benefits due to which it can be considered as the major diet. Its endosperm consists of 70 percent of starch. Maize oil has also huge health benefits as it plays the maximum role in the diet of malnutrition children. Zein has a very high content of leucin. Thus the level of dietary protein is great in case of maize.

## **9.Reference-**

- Abdel-Aal, E. M., Young, J. Ci, I. (2006). Anthocyanin composition in black, blue, pink, purple, and red cereal grains. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*.
- Alpha- Beta Carotene Cancer Prevention Study Group. (1994). The effect of vitamin E and beta carotene on the incidence of lung cancer and other cancers in male smokers. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 330, 1029–1035
- Balasubashini, M.

- S., Rukkumani, R., Viswanathan, P., & Menon, V. P. (2004). Ferulic acid alleviates lipid peroxidation in diabetic rats. *Journal of Phytotherapy Research*. Wong, T. S. (1996). Effects of lutein from marigold extract on immunity and growth of mammary tumors in mice. *Journal of Anticancer Research*, 16, 3689–3694. □ CRA. (2006). *Corn oil* (5th ed.). Washington, DC: Corn Refiners Association.
- Deng, J., Wu, X., Bin, S., Li, T. J., Huang, R., Liu, Z., ... Hou, Y. L. (2010). Dietary amylose and amylopectin ratio and resistant starch content affects plasma glucose, lactic acid, hormone levels and protein synthesis in splanchnic tissues. *Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition*, 94, 220–226.10.1111/jpn.2010.94.issue-2 □ Duffield-Lillico, A. J., & Begg, C. B. (2004). Reflections on the landmark studies of  $\beta$ -carotene supplementation. *JNCI Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 96, 1729–1731.10.1093/jnci/djh344
- Dupont, J., White, P. J., Carpenter, M. P., Schaefer, E. J., Meydani, S. N., Elson, C. E., ... Gorbach, S. L. (1990). Food uses and health effects of corn oil. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 9, 438–470.10.1080/07315724.1990.10720403
- Fernandez, A., Torres-Giner, S., & Lagaron, J. M. (2009). Novel route to stabilization of bioactive antioxidants by encapsulation in electrospun fibers of zein prolamine.
- Ghosh, D., & Konishi, T. (2007). Anthocyanins and anthocyanin-rich extracts: Role in diabetes and eye function. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 16, 200–208.
- Gopalan, C., Rama Sastri, B. V., & Balasubramanian, S. (2007). *Nutritive value of Indian foods*. Hyderabad: National Institute of Nutrition (NIN), ICMR.
- Hagiwara, A., Miyashita, K., Nakanishi, T., Sano, M., Tamano, S., Kadota, T., ... Shirai, T. (2001). Pronounced inhibition by a natural anthocyanin, purple corn color, of 2-amino-1-methyl-6-phenylimidazo[4,5-b]pyridine (PhIP)-associated colorectal carcinogenesis in male F344 rats pretreated with 1,2-dimethylhydrazine. *Cancer Letters*, 171, 17–25.10.1016/S0304-3835(01)00510-9
- Harrabi, S., St-Amand, A., Sakouhi, F., Sebei, K., Kallel, H., Mayer, P. M., & Boukhchina, S. (2008). Phytosterols and phytosterols distributions in corn kernel. *Food Chemistry*
- Higgins, J. A. (2004). Resistant starch: Metabolic effects and potential health benefits. *Journal of AOAC International*,
- 
- Jang, S. H., Lim, J. W., & Kim, H. (2009). Mechanism of  $\beta$ -carotene-induced apoptosis of gastric cancer cells: Involvement of ataxia-telangiectasia-mutated. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1171, 156–162.10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04711.x
- Jiang, H. (2010). *Resistant-starch formation in high-amylose maize starch* (Graduate Theses and Dissertations Paper 11351). Iowa, IA: Iowa State University Ames.
- Jiang, Y. Z., & Wang, T. (2005). Phytosterols in cereal by-products. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 82, 439–444.10.1007/s11746-005-1090-5.
- Jin, M. F., Davidson, P. M., Zivanovic, S., & Zhong, Q. X. (2009). Production of corn zein microparticles with loaded lysozyme directly extracted from hen egg white using spray drying: Extraction studies. *Food Chemistry*, 115, 509–514.10.1016/j.foodchem.2008.12.
- Johnston, K. L., Thomas, E. L., Bell, J. D., Frost, G. S., & Robertson, M. D. (2010). Resistant starch improves insulin sensitivity in metabolic syndrome. *Diabetic Medicine*, 27, 391–397.10.1111/dme.2010.27.issue-4
- Kawabata, K., Yamamoto, T., Hara, A., Shimizu, M., Yamada, Y., Matsunaga, K., ... Mori, H. (2000). Modifying effects of ferulic acid on azoxymethane-induced colon carcinogenesis in F344 rats. *Cancer Letters*.



- Keenan, M. J., Zhou, J., McCutcheon, K. L., Raggio, A. M., Bateman, H. G., Todd, E., ... Hegsted, M. (2006). Effects of resistant starch, a non-digestible fermentable fiber, on reducing body fat. *Obesity*.
- Kim, W. K., Chung, M. K., Kang, N. E., Kim, M. H., & Park, O. J. (2003). Effect of resistant starch from corn or rice on glucose control, colonic events, and blood lipid concentrations in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*.
- Kopsell, D. A., Armel, G. R., Mueller, T. C., Sams, C. C., Deyton, D. E., McElroy, J. S., & Kopsell, D. E. (2009). Increase in nutritionally important sweet corn kernel carotenoids following mesotrione and atrazine applications
- Kumar, D., & Jhariya, N. A. (2013). Nutritional, medicinal and economical importance of corn: A mini review. *Research Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 2, 7–8.
- Lai, L. F., & Guo, H. X. (2011). Preparation of new 5-fluorouracil-loaded zein nanoparticles for liver targeting. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 404, 317–323.10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.11.0
- Landrum, J. T., Bone, R. A., & Kilburn, M. D. (1997). The macular pigment: A possible role in protection from age-related macular degeneration. *Journal of Advanced Pharmacology*, 38, 537–556.
- Lemcke-Norjarvi, M., Kamal-Eldin, A., Appelqvist, L., Dimberg, H. L., Ohrvall, M., & Vessby, B. (2001). Corn and sesame oils increase serum  $\gamma$ -tocopherol concentrations in healthy Swedish women. *Journal of Nutrition*, 131, 1195–1201.
- Liu, R. H. (2004). Potential synergy of phytochemicals in cancer prevention: mechanism of action. *Journal of Nutrition*.
- Liu, R. H. (2007). Whole grain phytochemicals and health. *Journal of Cereal Sciencr*.
- Locatelli, S., & Berardo, N. (2014). Chemical composition and phytosterols profile of degermed maize products derived from wet and dry milling. Consiglio per la Ricerca e la sperimentazione in Agricoltura, Unità di Ricerca per la Maiscoltura (CRA-MAC), via Stezzano 24, 24126 Bergamo, Italy. *Maydica*, 59, 261–266.
- Lopez-Martinez, L. X., Oliart-Ros, R. M., Valerio-Alfaro, G., Lee, C. H., Parkin, K. L., & Garcia, H. S. (2009). Antioxidant activity, phenolic compounds and anthocyanins content of eighteen strains of Mexican maize. *LWT - Food Science and Technology*, 42, 1187–1192.10.1016/j.lwt.2008.10.010 .
- Luo, Y. C., Zhang, B. C., Cheng, W. H., & Wang, Q. (2010). Preparation, characterization and evaluation of selenite-loaded chitosan/TPP nanoparticles with or without zein coating. *Carbohydrate Polymers*,
- Luo, Y. C., Zhang, B. C., Whent, M., Yu, L., & Wang, Q. (2011). Preparation and characterization of zein/chitosan complex for encapsulation of  $\alpha$ -tocopherol, and its *in vitro* controlled release study. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 85, 145–152.10.1016/j.colsurfb.2011.02.020/
- Madhujith, T., & Shahidi, F. (2007). Antioxidative and antiproliferative properties of selected barley cultivars and their potential of inhibition of copper induced LDL cholesterol oxidation. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 55, 2018–5024.
- Mehta, D. C., & Dias, F. F. (1999). Maize: Perspectives and applications in India. *Starch - Stärke*, 51, 52–57.10.1002/(ISSN)1521-379X.
- Michaud, D. S., Feskanich, D., Rimm, E. B., Colditz, G. A., Speizer, F. E., Willett, W. C., & Giovannucci, E. (2000). Intake of specific carotenoids and risk of lung cancer in 2 prospective US cohorts. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 72, 990–997.
- Milind, P., & Isha, D. (2013). Zea maize: A modern craze. *International Research Journal of Pharmacy*, 4, 39–43.

- Moreno, F. S., Toledo, L. P., de Conti, A., Heidor, Jr. R., Jordão, A., Vannucchi, H., ... Ong, T. P. (2007). Lutein presents suppressing but not blocking chemopreventive activity during diethylnitrosamine-induced hepatocarcinogenesis and this involves inhibition of DNA damage. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 168, 221–228.10.1016/j.cbi.2007.04.011
- Moros, E. E., Darnoko, D., Cheryan, M., Perkins, E. G., & Jerrell, J. (2002). Analysis of Xanthophylls in corn by HPLC. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*
- Murphy, M. M., Douglass, J. S., & Birkett, A. (2008). Resistant starch intakes in the United States. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*,
- Orthoefer, F., Eastman, J., & List, G. (2003). Corn oil: composition, processing and utilization. In P. J. White, L. A. Johnson (Eds.), *Corn: Chemistry and technology* (2nd ed., pp. 671–693). St. Paul, MN: American Association of Cereal Chemists.
- Ostlund, Jr. R. E., Racette, S. B., Okeke, A., & Stenson, W. F. (2002). Phytosterols that are naturally present in commercial corn oil significantly reduce cholesterol absorption in humans. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*
- Ou, L., Kong, L. Y., Zhang, X. M., & Niwa, M. (2003). Oxidation of ferulic acid by momordica charantia peroxidase and related anti-inflammation activity changes. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*.
- Palozza, P., Calviello, G., Serini, S., Maggiano, N., Lanza, P., Ranelletti, F. O., & Bartoli, G. M. (2001).  $\beta$ -carotene at high concentrations induces apoptosis by enhancing oxy-radical production in human adenocarcinoma cells. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 30, 1000–1007.10.1016/S0891-5849(01)00488-9
- Palozza, P., Serini, S., Torsello, A., Di Nicuolo, F., Maggiano, N., Ranelletti, F. O., ... Calviello, G. (2003). Mechanism of activation of caspase cascade during  $\beta$ -carotene-induced apoptosis in human tumor cells. *Nutrition and Cancer*,
- Piironen, V., Lindsay, D. G., Miettinen, T. A., Toivo, J., & Lampi, A. (2000). Plant sterols: Biosynthesis, biological function and their importance to human nutrition. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 80, 839–96
- Ricciarelli, R., Zingg, J. M., & Azzì, A. (2001). Vitamin E: Protective role of a Janus molecule. *The FASEB Journal*, 15, 2314–2325.10.1096/fj.01-0258rev
- Rukkumani, R., Aruna, K., Varma, P. S., & Menon, V. P. (2004). Influence of ferulic acid on circulatory prooxidant antioxidant status during alcohol and PUFA induced toxicity. *Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, 55, 551–561.
- Salinas Moreno, Y. S., Sanchez, G. S., Hernandez, D. R., & Lobato, N. R. (2005). Characterization of anthocyanin extracts from maize kernels. *Journal of Chromatographic Science*, 43, 483–487.10.1093/chromsci/43.9.483
- Salinas-Moreno, Y., Soto-Hernández, M., Martínez-Bustos, F., González-Hernández, V., & Ortega-Paczka, R. (1999). Análisis de antocianinas en maíces de grano azul y rojo provenientes de cuatro razas [Analysis of anthocyanins in four races from blue and Red grain maize]. *Revista Fitotecnica Mexicana*, 22, 161–174.
- Sanchez-Garcia, M. D., Hilliou, L., & Lagaron, J. M. (2010). Nanobiocomposites of carrageenan, zein, and mica of interest in food packaging and coating applications. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58, 6884–6894.10.1021/jf1007659
- Sandhu, K. S., Singh, N., & Malhi, N. S. (2007). Some properties of corn grains and their flours I: Physicochemical, functional and chapati-making properties of flours. *Food Chemistry*, 101, 938–946.10.1016/j.foodchem.2006.02.040
- Sassa, S., Kikuchi, T., Shinoda, H., Suzuki, S., Kudo, H., & Sakamoto, S. (2003). Preventive effect of ferulic acid on bone loss in ovariectomized rats. *Journal of In Vivo*, 17, 277–280
- Shah, T. R., Prasad, K., & Kumar, P. (2015). Studies on physicochemical and functional characteristics of asparagus bean flour and maize flour. In G. C. Mishra (Ed.), *Conceptual*

*frame work & innovations in agroecology and food sciences* (1st ed., pp. 103–105). New Delhi: Krishi Sanskriti Publications.

- Shahidi, F. (2009). Nutraceuticals and functional foods: Whole versus processed foods. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 20, 376–387.10.1016/j.tifs.2008.0
- Shen, L., Keenan, M. J., Martin, R. J., Tulley, R. T., Raggio, A. M., McCutcheon, K. L., & Zhou, J. (2009). Dietary Resistant Starch Increases Hypothalamic POMC Expression in Rats. *Obesity*, 17, 40–45.10.1038/oby.2008.483
- Shindo, M., Kasai, T., Abe, A., & Kondo, Y. (2007). Effects of dietary administration of plant-derived anthocyanin-rich colors to spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology*, 53, 90–93.10.3177/jnsv.53.90
- Verleyen, T., Forcades, M., Verhe, R., Dewettinck, K., Huyghebaert, A., & De Greyt, W. (2002). Analysis of free and esterified sterols in vegetable oils.
- Wang, X., Brown, I. L., Khaled, D., Mahoney, M. C., Evans, A. J., & Conway, P. L. (2002). Manipulation of colonic bacteria and volatile fatty acid production by dietary high amylose maize (amylomaize) starch granules. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 93, 390–397.10.1046/j.1365-2672.2002.01704.x
- Watson, S. A., & Ramstad, P. E. (1987). *Corn: Chemistry and technology* (1st ed., pp. 453–455). St. Paul, MN: American Association of Cereal Chemists.
- Willis, H. J., Eldridge, A. L., Beiseigel, J., Thomas, W., & Slavin, J. (2009). Greater satiety response with resistant starch and corn bran in human subjects. *Nutrition Research*, 29, 100–105.10.1016/j.nutres.2009.01.004
- Zhang, Z., Yang, L., Ye, H., Du, X. F., Gao, Z. M., & Zhang, Z. L. (2010). Effects of pigment extract from black glutinous corncob in a high-fat-fed mouse model of hyperlipidemia. *European Food Research and Technology*, 230, 943–946.10.1007/s00217-010-1242-6
- Zou, Y., & Zhang, Z. L. (2010). Anthocyanins richly contained in corn bran are slightly bioavailable in rats. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58, 5030–5035.10.1021/jf050111

Fig 1: Morphological View of the plant



UNDR PEER REVIEW